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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 
Matthew P. Manes, on behalf of himself and 
those similarly situated, 
 

Plaintiff 
 

vs. 
 

9dots Management Corp., LLC and John L. 
Florio 

 
Defendant 

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 

Civil Action 
 
No.  

 
INDIVIDUAL AND COLLECTIVE ACTION COMPLAINT 

 
Matthew P. Manes (“Named Plaintiff”), individually, and on behalf of himself and those 

similarly situated (“Collective Plaintiffs”), hereby complains as follows against Defendant 9dots 

Management Corp., LLC and John L. Florio (“Defendants”).  

 Introduction 

1.  This action is brought under the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq. 

(“FLSA”), Pennsylvania’s Minimum Wage Act, 43 P.S. § 333.101 et seq. (“PMWA”), and the 

Pennsylvania Wage Payment and Collection Law, 43 P.S. § 260.1 et seq. (“WPCL”). Named 

Plaintiff asserts that Defendants failed to pay Named Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs 

compensation in violation of said laws. As a result of the aforesaid unlawful actions, Named 

Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs have suffered harm. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

2.  This Court has original jurisdiction to hear this action and adjudicate the claims 

herein pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343. The supplemental jurisdiction of this Court is 

invoked with regard to Named Plaintiff’s state law claims.  
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3.  Venue is appropriate in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania because the events or 

omissions giving rise to Named Plaintiff’s claims occurred therein and because Defendants are 

doing business and/or may be served with process therein. 

The Parties 

 4.  Named Plaintiff Matthew P. Manes is an adult individual and is a citizen and 

resident of the United States. Plaintiff resides in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.  

 5.  Defendant 9dots Management Corp., LLC (“9dots”) is a Pennsylvania 

corporation with its principal place of business at 1100 East Hector Street, Suite 245, 

Conshohocken, Pennsylvania 19428.  

 6.  9dots is an employer pursuant to the FLSA because it generates over $500,000.00 

in gross revenue annually or because it engages in interstate commerce. 

 7.  9dots is an employer within the meaning of the PMWA and the WPCL.   

 8.  9dots is a computer software company. 

 9.  In 2016, 9dots employed approximately fifteen individuals. 

 10.  Defendant John L. Florio (“Florio”) has a principal place of business at 1100 East 

Hector Street, Suite 245, Conshohocken, Pennsylvania 19428. Florio is President and Chief 

Executive Officer of 9dots. 

 11.  At all relevant times hereto, Florio acted as an agent of and on behalf of 9dots. 

 12.  Florio is an employer pursuant to the FLSA because he exercises significant 

control over 9dots’ operations, he exercised supervisory authority over Named Plaintiff and 

Collective Plaintiffs, and he was responsible in whole or part for the alleged violations set forth 

herein.  
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 13.  Florio is an employer within the meaning of the PMWA and the WPCL because 

he is policy decision maker for 9dots in all areas of business, including but not limited to, 

compensation of employees. 

FLSA Collective Action Allegations 

14.  Named Plaintiff brings this action for violations of the FLSA as a collective action 

pursuant to Section 16(b) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), on behalf of all persons presently and 

formerly employed by Defendants as exempt employees subject to Defendants’ unlawful pay 

practices and policies described herein and who worked for Defendants at any point in the three 

years preceding the date the instant action was initiated (the members of this putative class are 

referred to as “Collective Plaintiffs”).  

15.  Named Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs have been and are subject to the same 

unlawful wage policies and practices of Defendants discussed herein.  

16.  Named Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs are similarly situated, have substantially 

similar pay provisions, and are all subject to Defendants’ unlawful policies and practices as 

described herein.  

17.  There are numerous similarly situated current and former employees of 

Defendants who were not paid minimum wage and/or overtime compensation in violation of the 

FLSA and who would benefit from the issuance of a Court Supervised Notice of the instant 

lawsuit and the opportunity to join in the present lawsuit.  

18.  Similarly situated employees are known to Defendants, are readily identifiable by 

Defendants, and can be located through Defendants’ records.  

19.  Therefore, Named Plaintiff should be permitted to bring this action as a collective 

action for and on behalf of himself and those employees similarly situated, pursuant to the “opt-

in” provisions of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).  
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Factual Background 

 20. On December 29, 2015, 9dots made an offer of employment to Named Plaintiff 

to work as a Senior Manager, which offer Named Plaintiff accepted. A true and correct copy of 

9dots’ December 29, 2015 offer letter is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. 

21.  Pursuant to the terms of 9dots’ offer of employment, 9dots agreed to compensate 

Named Plaintiff with a base annual salary of $70,000.00 payable in equal bi-weekly installments, 

“Great Game of Business” bonuses of approximately 14-18% of Named Plaintiff’s salary, and 

120 hours of paid time off. See Exhibit “A”. 

 22.  On January 11, 2016, Named Plaintiff began working for 9dots as a Senior 

Manager at its office in office Conshohocken, Pennsylvania. 

23.  Defendants designated Named Plaintiff as an exempt employee under federal 

law. � 

24.  Defendants designated Collective Plaintiffs as exempt employees under federal 

law.  

 25.  Each paycheck issued to Named Plaintiff provides that he was compensated as an 

exempt salaried employee.� 

26.  Upon information and belief, each paycheck issued to Collective Plaintiffs 

provides that they were compensated as exempt salaried employees.  

27. As a Senior Manager, Named Plaintiff worked approximately 42-43 hours per 

week. 

28.  Collective Plaintiffs regularly worked/work over 40 hours per week. � 

 29.  As a Senior Manager, Named Plaintiff’s job duties included interfacing with 9dots’ 

clients and providing them with status updates, tracking 9dots’ client projects, and managing 

tasks associated with 9dots’ client projects. 
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 30.  9dots did not pay any wages to Named Plaintiff from June 19, 2016 through 

August 13, 2016 (four pay periods).  

 31.  Named Plaintiff estimates that 9dots failed to pay $10,769.24 in salary from June 

19, 2016 through August 13, 2016.  

 32.  9dots also failed to pay Named Plaintiff’s “Great Game of Business” bonuses from 

January through June 2016. Named Plaintiff estimates that 9dots failed to pay $3,500.00 in 

“Great Game of Business” bonuses from January through June 2016. 

 33.  9dots also failed to pay Named Plaintiff for 88 hours of unused paid time off 

(“PTO”) in 2016. 

 34.  Named Plaintiff estimates that 9dots failed to pay $2,692.00 in unused PTO in 

2016.  

 35.  On August 15, 2016, Named Plaintiff resigned from his employment with 9dots 

due to 9dots’ failure to pay his salary and bonuses from June 19, 2016 through August 13, 2016. 

 36.  By letter dated August 29, 2016, Named Plaintiff, through his counsel, demanded 

that 9dots pay all unpaid salary and bonuses due, unused PTO, interest, liquidated damages, and 

attorney’s fees. 

 37.  By letter dated September 12, 2016, Defendants admitted that they had not paid 

Named Plaintiff all wages, including bonuses and paid time off, due to him. A true and correct 

copy of 9dots’ September 12, 2016 letter to Plaintiff is attached hereto as Exhibit “B”. 

 38. On October 4, 2016, 9dots directly deposited $1,760.98 into Named Plaintiff’s 

bank account.  

 39.  According to the pay stub associated with the October 4, 2016 direct deposit, the 

$1,760.98 deposit was for the pay period June 19, 2016 through July 2, 2016. According to the 
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pay stub, $1,793.07 was for salary, $583.33 was for bonuses, and $218.97 was for PTO. 9dots 

deducted $50.53 for health benefits and withheld $783.86 for taxes.  

 40.  The paystub is not accurate because Named Plaintiff earned $2,692.31 per pay 

period. Further, Named Plaintiff is no longer covered under 9dots’ health plan. 

 41.  On November 1, 2016, 9dots directly deposited $1,760.98 into Named Plaintiff’s 

bank account.  

 42.  According to the pay stub associated with the November 1, 2016 direct deposit, 

the $1,760.98 deposit was for the pay period July 17, 2016 through July 30, 2016. According to 

the pay stub, $1,795.43 was for salary, $583.33 was for bonuses, and $218.97 was for PTO. 9dots 

deducted $50.53 for health benefits and withheld $786.86 for taxes. 

  43.  The paystub is not accurate because Named Plaintiff earned $2,692.31 per pay 

period. Further, Named Plaintiff is no longer covered under 9dots’ health plan. 

 44.  On December 6, 2016, 9dots directly deposited $1,760.98 into Named Plaintiff’s 

bank account. 

 45.  According to the pay stub associated with the December 6, 2016 direct deposit, 

the $1,760.98 deposit was for the pay period November 20, 2016 through December 3, 2016, 

even though Named Plaintiff resigned on August 15, 2016. According to the pay stub, $1,795.77 

was for salary, $583.33 was for bonuses, and $218.97 was for PTO. 9dots deducted $50.53 for 

health benefits and withheld $786.86 for taxes. 

 46.  The paystub is not accurate because Named Plaintiff earned $2,692.31 per pay 

period. Further, Named Plaintiff is no longer covered under 9dots’ health plan. 

 47.  To date, 9dots has failed to pay all wages due for the pay periods June 19, 2016 

through July 2, 2016 and July 17, 2016 through July 30, 2016.  
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 48.  To date, 9dots has failed to pay any wages due for the pay periods July 3, 2016 

through July 16, 2016 and July 31, 2016 through August 13, 2016.  

 49.  Named Plaintiff calculates that 9dots owes him $5,384.97 in unpaid salary. 

 50.  To date, 9dots has also failed to pay the monthly and quarterly bonuses owed to 

Named Plaintiff. Named Plaintiff calculates that 9dots owes him approximately $1,750.01 in 

unpaid bonuses.   

 51.  To date, 9dots has also failed to pay unused paid time off (88 hours). Named 

Plaintiff calculates that 9dots owes him approximately $2,035.09 in unpaid paid time off. 

 52.  Upon information and belief, Defendants have also failed to pay Collective 

Plaintiffs wages, including bonuses, during the last three years. 

Count I 
FLSA – Failure to Pay Minimum Wage 

Named Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs vs. Defendants 
 

 53.  Paragraphs 1 through 52 are incorporated herein by reference as if set forth at 

length. 

 54.  As averred above, 9dots is an employer within the meaning of the FLSA. 

 55.  As averred above, Florio is an employer within the meaning of the FLSA. 

 56.  Al all relevant times, Defendants were responsible for paying wages to Named 

Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs. 

  57.  At all relevant times, Named Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs were exempt 

employees of Defendants. 

 58.  In 2016, Pennsylvania’s minimum wage was $7.25 per hour. 

 59.  As averred above, in 2016, Named Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs worked over 

40 hours per week. 
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 60.  As averred above, 9dots failed to pay Named Plaintiff from June 19, 2016 through 

August 13, 2016. 

 61.  As averred above, 9dots also failed to pay Collective Plaintiffs during the last three 

years. 

 62.  Accordingly, 9dots failed to pay Named Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs 

minimum wage. 

 63.  From at least June 19, 2016 through at least August 13, 2016, 9dots made 

improper deductions to Named Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs’ wages.  

 64.  Upon information and belief, from at least June 19, 2016 through at least August 

13, 2016, 9dots improperly reduced the salaries of Named Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs. 

 65.  Florio was responsible for taking the improper salary deductions. 

 66.  Defendants do not have a clearly communicated policy that permits or prohibits 

improper deductions. 

 67.  Since Defendants have an actual practice of making improper deductions from its 

employees’ pay, the salary basis rule cannot be met during the time period in which improper 

deductions were made. Therefore, Named Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs were not paid on a 

salary basis as required for exemption during the relevant time period.  

 68.  Pursuant to the FLSA, Named Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs are entitled to 

compensation going back three years from the date of this Complaint.  

 69. Defendants’ actions constitute willful violations of the FLSA. 

 70.  Named Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs seek all remedies permitted under the 

FLSA, including unpaid wages, interest, liquidated damages, and attorney’s fees and costs. 
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Count II 
FLSA – Failure to Pay Overtime Compensation 

Named Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs vs. Defendants 
 

71.  Paragraphs 1 through 70 are incorporated herein by reference as if set forth at 

length. 

 72.  As averred above, from June 19, 2016 through August 13, 2016, Named Plaintiff 

worked more than 40 hours each week for 9dots, but was not compensated at a rate of time and 

one half of his hourly wage. 

 73.  From June 19, 2016 through August 13, 2016, Named Plaintiff estimates that he 

worked 2-3 hours of overtime per week. 

 74.  As averred above, Collective Plaintiffs worked more than 40 hours each week for 

9dots, but were not compensated at a rate of time and one half of his hourly wage. 

 75.  Since Defendants have an actual practice of making improper deductions from its 

employees’ pay, the salary basis rule cannot be met during the time period in which improper 

deductions were made. Therefore, Named Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs were not paid on a 

salary basis as required for exemption during the relevant time period. 

 76.  Pursuant to the FLSA, Named Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs are entitled to 

overtime compensation going back three years from the date of this Complaint. 

 77.  Defendants’ actions constitute willful violations of the FLSA. 

 78.  Named Plaintiff and Collective Plaintiffs seek all remedies permitted under the 

FLSA, including unpaid overtime, interest, liquidated damages, and attorney’s fees and costs. 
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Count III 
PMWA – Failure to Pay Minimum Wage 

Named Plaintiff vs. Defendants 
 

 79.  Paragraphs 1 through 78 are incorporated herein by reference as if set forth at 

length. 

 80.  As averred above, from June 19, 2016 through August 13, 2016, Defendants 

failed to pay minimum wage to Named Plaintiff. 

 81.  Defendants’ failure to pay Named Plaintiff at all constitutes a violation of the 

PMWA because Defendants did not pay Named Plaintiff minimum wage.  

 82.  Pursuant to the PMWA, Named Plaintiff is entitled to compensation. 

 83.  Named Plaintiff seeks all remedies permitted under the PMWA, including unpaid 

wages, interest, liquidated damages, and attorney’s fees and costs. 

Count IV 
PMWA – Failure to Pay Overtime Compensation 

Named Plaintiff vs. Defendants 
 
 84.  Paragraphs 1 through 83 are incorporated herein by reference as if set forth at 

length. 

 85.  As averred above, Defendants failed to pay overtime to Named Plaintiff from June 

19, 2016 through August 13, 2016. 

 86.  Defendants’ failure to pay overtime also constitutes a violation of the PMWA.  

 87.  Pursuant to the PMWA, Named Plaintiff is entitled to overtime compensation 

from June 19, 2016 through August 13, 2016. 

 88.  Named Plaintiff seeks all remedies permitted under the PMWA, including unpaid 

overtime, interest, liquidated damages, and attorney’s fees and costs. 
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Count V 
Pennsylvania Wage Payment and Collection Law 

Named Plaintiff vs. Defendants 
 

 89.  Paragraphs 1 through 88 are incorporated herein by reference as if set forth at 

length. 

 90.  As averred above, Named Plaintiff was an employee of 9dots.  

 91.  As averred above, 9dots is an employer under the WPCL. 

 92.  As averred above, Florio is a policy decision maker for 9dots in all areas of 

business, including but not limited to, compensation of employees. 

 93.  Because of his policy-making role, Florio is also an employer under Pennsylvania’s 

Wage Payment and Collection Law, 43 P.S. § 260.2(a) (“WPCL”). 

 94.  As averred above, from June 19, 2016 through August 13, 2016, Defendants 

failed to pay the agreed-upon salary to Named Plaintiff.   

 95.  As averred above, Defendants failed to pay the agreed-upon bonuses to Named 

Plaintiff. 

 96.  As averred above, Defendants failed to pay the agreed-upon PTO to Named 

Plaintiff. 

 97.  Florio made the decision to not pay Named Plaintiff.  

 98.  Named Plaintiff did not authorize Defendants to withhold wages. 

 99.  Defendants, upon information and belief, never sought or obtained the 

Pennsylvania Department of Labor and Industry’s approval for the pay deductions.  

 100.  Defendants took unauthorized wage deductions for their convenience and not for 

the convenience of Named Plaintiff. 

 101.  The WPCL requires employers to pay covered employees for every hour worked 

in a workweek and that they pay wages on regular paydays. 43 P.S. § 260.3. 
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 102.  The WPCL prohibits pay deductions except for those explicitly permitted by law 

or regulation, none of which apply to this lawsuit. 43 P.S. § 260.3, 32 Pa. Code § 9.1.  

103.  Payment of the unpaid wages is more than 60-days overdue. 

104.  Defendants do not have a good faith basis to defend, assert a counterclaim or set 

off against the wages due and owing to Named Plaintiff. 

105. Defendants violated the WPCL by making unauthorized deductions from Named 

Plaintiff’s pay.  

106.  In addition to the wages owed, Named Plaintiff is entitled to liquidated damages 

in the amount of 25% of the wages owed or $500.00, whichever is greater. 43 P.S. § 260.10. 

107.  Named Plaintiff is also entitled to attorneys’ fees and costs. 43 P.S. § 260.90a(f). 

108.  Under Pennsylvania’s Wage Payment and Collection Law, Defendants are 

statutory employers for these purposes and as such, are jointly and separately liable for all wages 

owed to Named Plaintiff, for liquidated damages, and for Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Count VI 
Breach of Contract 

Named Plaintiff vs. 9dots 
 

  109.  Paragraphs 1 through 108 are incorporated herein by reference as if set forth at 

length. 

 110.  As averred above, Named Plaintiff entered into an oral employment contract with 

9dots wherein 9dots agreed to compensate Named Plaintiff with a base annual salary of 

$70,000.00 payable in equal bi-weekly installments, quarterly and monthly bonuses, and 120 

hours of paid time off.   

  111.  Named Plaintiff complied with the terms of the contract entered into with 9dots. � 

  112.  As averred above, 9dots failed to perform according to the contract. � 

  113.  As a result of 9dots’s breach of contract, Named Plaintiff has suffered damages. � 
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Count VII 
Unjust Enrichment 

Named Plaintiff vs. 9dots 
 

114.  Paragraphs 1 through 113 are incorporated herein by reference as if set forth at 

length. 

115.  As averred above, from January 11, 2016 through August 13, 2016, Named 

Plaintiff worked for 9dots.  

116.  9dots benefited from Named Plaintiff’s work.  

117.  As averred above, 9dots failed to pay Named Plaintiff his agreed-upon salary from 

June 19, 2016 through August 13, 2016, bonuses, and earned paid time off.  

118.  As averred above, 9dots still owes Named Plaintiff wages. 

119.  By not paying Named Plaintiff all wages owed when due, Defendants have been 

unjustly enriched. 

RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Named Plaintiffs and Collective Plaintiffs seek the following relief in 

Counts I-II: 

(1)  An order permitting this lawsuit to proceed as a collective action;  

(2)  Prompt notice of this lawsuit be given to all potential collective members;  

(3)  Declaratory Judgment declaring that Defendants’ actions, as set forth in this 

Complaint, are unlawful under the FLSA; 

(4)  Unpaid compensation damages;  

(5)  Liquidated damages;  

(6)  Interest;  

(7)  Litigation costs including attorney’s fees and expenses; and  

(8)  Such other relief as the Court shall deem proper. 
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10. 0 Social Security Review Cases (Please specify)
11. D( All other Federal Question Cases

(Please spccify) Fair Labor Standards Act

ARBITRATION CERTIFICATION
(Check Appropriate Category)

I, Stephanie J. Mensing, counscl of record do hereby certify:
O Pursuant to Local Civil Rulc 53.2, Section 3(c)(2), that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the damages recoverable in this civil action case exceed the sum of

S150,000.00 exclusive of interest and costs;
O Reliefother than monetary damages is soug.

DATE: /2//89625
Attorney-at- w Attorney I.D.#

NOTE: A trial de novo will bc a trial by jury only ifthere has been compliance with F.R.C.P. 38.

I certify that, to my knowledge, the within case is n related to any case now pending or within one year previously terminated action in this court
except as noted above.

DATE: 17//06 89625
Attorney-at-La Attorney I.D.#

C1V. 609 (5/2012)



Case 2:16-cv-06427-TJS Document 1-1 Filed 12/14/16 Page 3 of 3
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

CASE MANAGEMENT TRACK DESIGNATION FORM

Matthew P. Manes CIVIL ACTION

V.

9dots Management Corp., LLC
and John Florio NO.

In accordance with the Civil Justice Expense and Delay Reduction Plan of this court, counsel for
plaintiff shall complete a Case Management Track Designation Form in all civil cases at the time of
filing the complaint and serve a copy on all defendants. (See 1:03 of the plan set forth on the reverse

side of this form.) In the event that a defendant does not agree with the plaintiff regarding said
designation, that defendant shall, with its first appearance, submit to the clerk of court and serve on
the plaintiff and all other parties, a Case Management Track Designation Form specifying the track
to which that defendant believes the case should be assigned.

SELECT ONE OF THE FOLLOWING CASE MANAGEMENT TRACKS:

(a) Habeas Corpus Cases brought under 28 U.S.C. 2241 through 2255.

(b) Social Security Cases requesting review of a decision of the Secretary of Health
and Human Services denying plaintiff Social Security Benefits.

(c) Arbitration Cases required to be designated for arbitration under Local Civil Rule 53.2. (X)

(d) Asbestos Cases involving claims for personal injury or property damage from
exposure to asbestos.

(e) Special Management Cases that do not fall into tracks (a) through (d) that are

commonly referred to as complex and that need special or intense management by
the court. (See reverse side of this form for a detailed explanation of special
management cases.)

(f) Standard Management Cases that do not fall into any one of the other tracks.

qirnii7/17/ Step nie J. Mes---------- Matthew P. Manes
Date Attorney-at-law Attorney for

215-586-3751 215-359-2741 stephanie@mensinglaw.com

Telephone FAX Number E-Mail Address

(Civ. 660) 10/02



ClassAction.org
This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: Unpaid Wage Class Action Filed Against 9dots Management Corp., LLC

https://www.classaction.org/news/unpaid-wage-class-action-filed-against-9dots-management-corp-llc



